I. INTRODUCTION

Petitioners ask this Court to aeeept review to clarify that pollution

by itself is a public nuisance without regard to the geographic extent of the

source of erosion or the more localized nature of an illegal flow alteration.

An altered flow is "pollution" under Section 401^ of the Federal

Clean Water Act, as this Court ruled in Department ofEcology v Jefferson

County PUD #1, 121 Wn. 2d 179, 20 P.2d 646 (1993). The State Water

Pollution Control Act, RCW 90.48.080, defines "pollution" as including an

increase in "turbidity."

The uncontroverted evidence shows that Washington State

Department of Transportation has been polluting the waters of the Naselle

River since 1985^ when it constructed a 600-foot illegal obstruction in the

floodplain of the river by raising the elevation and length of the approach

road/berm to match the reconstructed (higher in elevation) SR 4 Bridge.

Since that time, the Bridge approach road fill or berm has affected the

normal/natural flow of the River. It acts as a dam to increase the height and

velocity of the flow through the "cut" under the Bridge which then eats into

banks downstream releasing dirt into the river. The altered flow and

' See infra, p. 15. The cite to the Federal Water Act is 33 U.S.C. § 1362(19).

^ The original 1925 bridge, built before the enactment of modem floodplain management
and environmental laws, also obstracted the floodplain of the river and affected river flows,
but to a lesser extent then the replacement bridge.
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turbidity will continue unless, and until, the obstruction is removed and the

Bridge extended over the associated floodplain.

The Court of Appeals erroneously ruled that the conceded

continuing pollution caused by the Department of Transportation's altering

the stream flow of the Naselle River was "insufficient" to show a public

nuisance. (Slip Opinion, p 13.) Aecording to Division I, the erosion was

limited to Petitioners' properties and did not extend to more properties.

Public nuisance is defined in ROW 7.48.130 as, "one which affects equally

the rights of an entire community or neighborhood, althpugh the extent of

the damage may be unequal."

The Court of Appeals impermissibly demanded proof that "the

erosion or bank loss extended to the entire community or a broader

neighborhood than the Plaintiffs." (Slip Opinion, p. 13). But, it is the

pollution of the waters that is the ultimate focus of a public nuisance, not

the length of the eroding bank. The bank erosion is the source of the

pollution caused by the altered flow. That pollution is not localized, but

affects the river as a whole in terms of functions and values.

The waters of the Naselle River are owned in trust for the public, so

by definition, the community as a whole is affected. The obstruction

damages functions and values of the floodplain, a protected critical area.

-2-



Public nuisance lawsuits are important tools to protect the

environment, especially in times of limited resources for public agencies to

enforce the law. This Court should accept review to (1) clarify and reaffirm

the protections afforded by public nuisance law with respect to water

pollution and stream and floodplain functions and values and (2) to remove

the insurmountable hurdle the decision places on private landovraers to

bring public nuisance lawsuits to address circumstances that give rise to a

change in both water flows and water quality.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Janice Wolfe and John and Dee Anttonen ("Wolfe") own property

on the Naselle River damaged by the actions of the Washington State

Department of Transportation ("WSDOT"). They are plaintiffs in this

public nuisance action filed in the Thurston County Superior Court

requesting abatement, repair/restoration and damages.

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION FOR

WHICH REVIEW IS SOUGHT

The Court of Appeals, Division I, on June 18, 2018, issued an

unpublished opinion that affirmed a Thurston County Superior Court order

granting WSDOT's motion of involuntary dismissal after Wolfe presented

their case in chief. The Opinion terminating review is attached as Appendix

A-1 hereto. Petitioners filed a timely Motion for Reconsideration on July

6, 2018, which was denied on July 23, 2018, Appendix A-2 hereto.
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IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

(1) Should a public nuisance claim survive a motion to dismiss

when a plaintiff does not show that the source and cause of pollution is area-

wide but adequately shows local cause and effects?

(2) Must a public nuisance claim based on laws regulating work

in a floodplain by requiring an approval for an obstruction be supported by

an expert opinion that the law applies?

(3) When a court enters a finding unchallenged on appeal that a

public works project has altered the flow of a river, causing erosion and

resulting in pollution to the waters of the state, is that sufficient to support

a public nuisance action?

(4) Where a river does not meet current water quality standards,

is it unnecessary for a plaintiff to present evidence of site specific samples

to support a public nuisance claim when it is conceded p public agency is

causing bank erosion resulting in dirt and debris emanating into the water

body?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The waters, floodplain and aquatic life and habjtat of the Naselle

River are entitled to protection from environmental perturbations under

-4



various laws, including but not limited to the Shoreline Management Act,^

the State Hydraulic Code,"^ the Pacific County Shoreline Master Program^

and Pacific Flood Control Ordinance,® the State Flood Control Law^ and

State Water Pollution Control Act.^ Each statutory scheme requires an

approval for obstruction of a floodplain or alteration (or pollution) of the

waters of the state. Petitioners presented evidence during trial that the State

never obtained such approvals.

Ms. Schaumberg testified that FEMA regulates floodplain

obstructions. Under 44 CFR 60.3(d)(3) and (4),® if aqyone, including a

public agency, performs any work within a defined floodplain without first

doing an Engineered No Rise Analysis, it violates the law. Either an

Engineered No Rise Certification must be obtained or FEMA revises the

Flood Insurance Rate Manual (FIRM). Neither occurred here.

^ Chapter 90.58 ROW. ROW 90.58.140(2) requires an approyal for a substantial
development. "Development" includes "dumping and filling." ROW 90.58.030(3)(a)

Chapter 77.55 RCW. RCW 77.55.020 requires an approval for a "hydraulic project.""
These terms are defined to mean "...the construction or performance of work that will
... obstruct or change the natural flow ... of any of the... freshwaters of the state."

^ See Exhibit 23

® See Ordinance No 71, annexed hereto as Appendix A-3.(Section 4.1: "A development
permit shall be obtained before construction or development work begins within any area
of Special Flood Hazard.") An area of Special Flood Hazard is any Iqnd within the FEMA
Rate Study Maps.

■'Chapter 86.16RCW.
® Chapter 90.48 RCW. RCW 90.48.080 states; "it shall be unlawful for any person... to
cause... to (be) discharged into (waters of the state) ...any organic ipatter that shall cause
or tend to cause pollution of such waters...."
® The regulations are attached in the Appendix, A-4.
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The Court of Appeals did not address that WSDOT failed to produce

evidence that it had complied with any cited laws by obtaining necessary

approvals to obstruct the floodplain. Petitioners' expert eeologist testified

a floodplain could not be obstructed without approvals. See infra, p 8.

Turning to the Petitioners, Jan Wolfe^*^ and Mr. and Mrs. Anttonen

own a 14.8 8-acre parcel immediately downstream of the SR 4 Bridge. The

parcel includes about 600 feet of riverfront along the soi^theast bank of the

Naselle River. The Anttonen land was acquired in 2007.^^ See Ex. 6 (Deed).

It is 6.1 acres. At the time of Wolfe's purchase in 2003, the FEMA FIRM

map showed the property was not in the floodplain.'^

As a result of the Bridge and approach road work, the river has

avulsed away approximately 175 linear feet of terrace from Petitioners'

property resulting now in a steep vertical bank that is easily eroded. This

has contributed to the loss of use and enjoyment of the pjroperty.'^

Erosion continues to occur each time the obstruction causes the

River to exceed flood stage. It has accelerated since 1985, then again in

Charles Wolfe is the former spouse of Jan Wolfe and has never held an equitable interest
in the properties. Mrs. Wolfe's interest in this litigation has been assigned to the other
three Appellants by a written agreement.

i^TRVol. l,p.45;7-8;TR52:l-17.

12 TR 48:4.

12 See Exhibits 9-10, Exhibits 60-61.

i"! Findings 1.42, 1.43, 1.44, CP 1482:3-17. The Findings, Conclusions and Order of the
Thurston County Superior Court are annexed as Appendix A-5.

12 Finding of Fact 1.30 CP 1507:10-12.
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1998. See Exhibits 51, 54, and 55 and VRP Vol.1, p.63:ll-25, p.64, p.65,

p.66:l-15).'^ The bank, as noted, is no longer stepped to be traversable to

the river, but is a 15-foot vertical drop, impossible to climb.^^ The owners

can no longer reach the river from their land.'^

Petitioners sued WSDOT for public nuisance. (Cp 10-34), alleging:

(1) the floodplain obstruction damaged functions and values associated with

the floodplain; (2) water pollution resulted from the scouring/avulsion of

dirt from riverbanks, rendering unwholesome the waters of the state; and

(3) the alteration of the flow of the river was a nuisance and constituted

pollution by itself without the necessary approvals.

The floodplain obstruction has affected all public and private

landowners in the general vicinity whose property is located within or

adjacent to the floodplain of the river.

Environmental impacts were identified and addressed by Kim

Schaumburg, a fisheries biologist consultant and expert yvitness. Her focus

was on assessing impacts to fish and wildlife, habitat and values, aquatic life

and the habitat, and the floodplain functions and values resulting from the

See Ex. 54.

" VRP Vol. 1, p.67;10-25, p.68:l-15.
18 VRP Vol. l,p.68:21-25,p.69:l-13.
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obstruction.'^ Ms. Schaumburg testified that any development of the

fioodplain must prevent loss of other channel functions:

FEMA describes a fioodplain as land adjacent to a river, a
stream, or a waterway that may flood. FEMA also states that
development in the regulatory fioodplain must prevent or
minimize the loss of hydraulic, geomorphic, and ecological
fioodplain or stream channel fimctions.

VRP Vol. 3, p.602:14-22. She concluded that the Bridge approach isolates

the fioodplain fi:om the river, "[s]o there's a disconnec^ivity between the

fioodplain and river." Id. p.604:19-25, p.605:l. Scour is erosion from the

water to the stream bank or bed and has numerous negative impacts to

aquatic life.^°

The fioodplain's isolated because of the bridge approach -
approximately 75 percent of the fioodplain that is mapped
by FEMA. And it is in the channel migration zone of the
river. And then the bridge itself also causes impacts, as the
water is sucked through it and out the other side. And it's a
- it is scouring the bank now severely, the south bank of the
Plaintiffs' property, and also scouring undemeaththe bridge,
and probably doing a little bit of damage upstream as the
water backs up during severe flood events and ijt has to be
funneled through that - through the bridge piers.

{Id. p.605:12-23). Ms. Schaumburg testified that these are not "minimal"

impacts, and that properties other than Plaintiffs' properties would be

affected in terms of the loss of functions and values.^'

See VRP Vol. 3, p.593:2-25, p.594:l-25, p.595:l.

20 VRP Vol. 4, p.617:12-13

VRP Vol. 4, p.643:14-25, p.644:l-10.
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Ms. Schaumburg stated that she did not take water samples during

her site visit. She relied on information from the Department of Ecology

because they have "better equipment. She testified that DOE's

information indicated that the water quality levels were below WDFW's

standards for fish survival, even if "close" to st^te water quality

standards.

Plaintiffs' engineer, fluvial geomoiphologist expert Russ

Lawrence, addressed the obstruction of the floodplain in both 1925 and

1985, the latter caused by elevating the approach roads to meet a

replacement bridge with a higher elevation.^^ The 600-foot-long fill across

the 800-foot floodplain adversely affected the natural meandering

characteristics of the river by funneling flood waters into a narrower space

and raising their elevation. The planar piers were oriented differently than

used for the original Bridge, which redirected the river 15 degrees towards

Appellants' property, leading to increased erosion.^® The 1985 change in

the piers exacerbated downstream erosion.

VRP Vol. 4, p.658:22-25, p.659:l-7.

22 Id. p.659;8-19.

2'' The Lawrence resume is Ex. 78 (CP 1825 through 1831).

25 VRP Vol. 1, p.l52:12-25, p.l52:l-25, p.l53:l-8.

2® Finding of Fact 1.29 (CP 1840: 7-9), citing Exhibits 46, 51, 54 and 55.

22 VRP Vol. l,p.l31:22-25,p.l32:l-7.
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The trial court allowed WSDOT to present one witness, but

precluded Petitioners from presenting rebuttal testimopy. The WSDOT

witness was a lay witness who worked for WSDOT in 1985 and 1998. He

testified as to the environmental permits WSDOT applied for and offered

the WSDOT version of two permits that WSDOT did obtain. He also

testified as to other permits or approvals that were npt obtained. The

witness offered no testimony with regard to floodplain obstruction, river

hydraulics, bank erosion, or pollution. The trial court then granted a motion

for involuntary dismissal and entered findings and conclusions supporting

the dismissal. (CP 1503-1512).

The uncontroverted findings show WSDOT obstructed the

floodplain with attendant downstream impacts. Finding Nos. 1.26-1.30:

1.26 The 600-foot earth fill approach
supporting the bridge is an obstruction ofthe
floodplain in that area.

1.27 The obstruction of the floodplain
resulted in a change ofwater flow, as well as
increased river velocities in the vicinity of the
bridge.

1.28 The 600-foot long earth fill approach
across the floodplain has constrained and
interfered with the natural meandering
characteristics of the river.

1.29 The erosion of the Anttonen and
Wolfe properties has been caused by the
mechanisms described by Mr. Lawrence are

-10-



attributable to the earth fill approach. This is
supported by Exhibits 46, 51, 54, and 55.

1.30 The court finds that the erosion of the
Anttonen and Wolfe properties, as well as the
interference with the natural migration of the
meandering stream, indicate an interference
with plaintiffs' use and enjoyment of the
property.

The Superior Court correctly ruled that WSDOT was wrong in

arguing obstruction of the floodplain is not a public nuisance under RCW

7.48.140(3) and/or RCW 7.48.160 because these statutes refer not to

passage of the River itself, but to navigation of the River by persons.

The Superior Court found the Petitioners' properties "have

experienced inundation by floodwater during flooding events." Finding No

1.31.^' However, it did not find the bridge and earth fill approach work

caused the flooding or resulted in the change in the FEMA Flood Insurance

Rate Manual (FIRM) Maps for the area.^" {Ibid) The Court of Appeals

affirmed these rulings (Slip Opinion, pp 10-11).^^

28 CP 713:16-25, CP 714:1-22.

2' Conclusion No 2.6.

2® The Anttonen property floods whenever the river flow is 4,460 cfs, which reflects the
effect that the floodplain obstruction has had on the flooding ^aracteristics of their
property. See CP 538:20 through 539:3. See also Exhibits 66, 67. Per FEMA FIRM data,
the property should not flood unless the river flow exceeds 13,450 cfs, which is the 500-
year flood. VRP Vol. 1, p.61:2-25, p.62:l-2. As a result, the floodplain boundary has
expanded into the Anttonen property such that over half of the property is now within the
FEMA mapped floodplain. VRP Vol. 3, p.537:5-14.

31 Contrary to Note 5 in the Slip Opinion, (page 4), Wolfe explicitly challenged the
Superior Court's Finding No. 1.31 on causation. See Opening Brief, Assignment No. 3,
page 3. See also. Argument, pp.43-44, pp.46-48.
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VI. REASONS FOR GRANTING THE PETITION

Petitioners ask this Court to accept review to clarify that continuing

pollution is by itself a public nuisance, even if expert testimony is limited

to addressing the source of the pollution as to discrete properties and the

flow alteration causing the pollution. This Court should further clarify that

an expert opinion is not required to establish a claim on the basis that

environmental regulatory laws that unambiguously require approvals to

obstruct a floodplain. Guidance is needed from this Court to prevent a

chilling effect on public nuisance cases that enable citizens to help protect

waters of the state.

1. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2): The Decision is in Conflict with
Decisions of the Washington Supreme Court ̂ nd the Supreme
Court of the United States.

The effect that the Bridge and fill had on the hydraulics of the

Naselle River, starting in 1925, is not in dispute. Fluvial geomorphologist

expert Russ Lawrence found an approximately 75% reduction in the width

of the available floodplain. See infra, p.S. The Bridge piers point the River

"nozzle" towards the Wolfe property and away from the property on the

other side of the River. Legally, this is a change in the "quantity" of water

within the river, in the sense of the depth of the water, its speed/velocity,

and/or its direction of flow. It also creates pollution. The increased river

flow, pointed 15 degrees towards the Wolfe property, resulted in the

-12-



erosion/avulsion of more than 32,000 cubic yards of dirt, involving the loss

of over 1.25 acres of land over the decades.

The numbers are not in dispute. That dirt was sloughed into the

Naselle River. Because the turbidity of the river water was increased, as a

matter of law, a change in the quality of the waters of the state has taken

place. The bottom line is that, regardless of the source or "cause" of the dirt

that is now within the Naselle River, there are two fundamental conclusions

that cannot be ignored: (1) the flow and intensity of the river flow has

changed as a result of the bridge approach, which scours dirt from the banks

in the vicinity of the Plaintiffs' properties; and (2) the deposition of dirt and

debris into the river is a continuing source of pollution.

Department of Ecology v Jefferson County PUD No. 1 (1993)

discussed infra, p.l, was subsequently appealed to the United States

Supreme Court and resulted in a landmark opinion regarding the

relationship of water quantity and quality. Public Utility District No. 1 of

Jefferson County v. Washington State Department of Ecology, 511 U.S. 700

(1994). Water quality and water quantity are linked and must be managed

together.

We also note that the concept of pollution in
the Clean Water Act is extremely broad.

Given that a WSDOT dump truck holds 10 cubic yards of dirt, this erosion is equivalent
to a WSDOT dump truck full of dirt being taken from the Petitioners' property every 10
days, taken to the center of the bridge, and unloaded over the side.
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Section 502(19) of the Act, 33 U.S.C. §
1362(19), reads; "The term 'pollution' means
the man-made or man-induced alteration of

the chemical, physical, biological, and
radiological integrity of water." Under this
broad definition, man-induced alteration of
stream flow level is "pollution".

While finding that WSDOT was responsible for the introduction of

32,000 cubic yards of dirt into the Naselle River, and while also finding that

WSDOT changed the direction of flow of the River, t)ie Superior Court

inexplicably ruled (and the Court of Appeals let stand) that WSDOT did not

pollute the Naselle River. Hence, it determined that WSDOT did not create

a public nuisance under the plain language of RCW 7,48.140(3), which

prohibits obstruction of a waterway without legal authority, or under RCW

7.48.140(2), which prohibits the corruption or rendering unwholesome or

impure any body of water.

The Court of Appeals' decision is contrary to and inconsistent with

this Court's decision in Moore v. Steve's Outboard Services, 182 Wn.2d

152, 155, 339 P.3d 169 (2014) and other public nuisance and nuisance per

se cases.^"^ In Moore, the court contrasted "regular" nuisance from nuisance

Department of Ecology V Jefferson County PUD No. 1, 121 Wn.2dat 187. "[Protection
of water quality involves far more than just addressing water chemistry. Rather, protection
of water quality includes protection of multiple elements which together make up aquatic
systems including the aquatic life, wildlife, wetlands and other aquatic habitat, vegetation,
and hydrology required to maintain the aquatic system. Relevant water quality issues
include ... the diversity and composition of the aquatic species ... [and] habitat losses" Id.
(citing letter from LaJuana Wilcher, Assistant Administrator of the EPA, to the Honorable
Lois D. Cashell, Secretary of FERC).

See also Public Utility Dist. No. 1 of Pend Oreille County v. State, Dept. of Ecology, 146
Wn.2d 778, 820, 51 P.3d 744 (2002) (discussing that pollution is defined broadly as
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per se. Based on this ruling, the Court should rule that WSDOT's failure to

obtain permission to obstruct the floodplain is a public nuisance under RCW

7.28.120 (nuisance consists in an act or omission which '^obstructs or tends

to obstruct, or render dangerous for passage, any lake or navigable river,

bay, stream, canal or basin") and .140(2) and (3) because it is "not

permissible or excusable under any eircumstance." (citing Tiegs v.

Watts, 135 Wn.2d 1, 13, 954 P.2d 877 (1998) {Tiegs II) (citing Jones v.

Rumford, 64 Wn.2d 559, 392 P.2d 808 (1964)). There, the court ruled:

Where the condition that gives rise to the nuisanee - pollution of
water, for example - is the very condition prohibited by the statutes,
there is support for finding a nuisance per se.

Id.

WSDOT's failure to obtain a permit is a nuisance at all times and

under all conditions and it is not "incidental" to Wolfe's ̂omplaint. Simply

put, a failure to obtain a permit where the watercourse is obstructed is a

nuisance at all times and under all conditions. RCW 7.48.140(3). The Court

of Appeals' decision is in direct conflict with these rulings of the

encompassing man-induced reduction of water quantity where it has the negative effects
outlined in RCW 90.48.020 , which defmes pollution as "such cc^ntamination, or other
alteration of the physical, chemical or biological properties, of any waters of the state,
including change in temperature, taste, color, turbidity, or odor of the waters, or such
discharge of any liquid, gaseous, solid, radioactive, or other substance into any waters of
the state as will or is likely to create a nuisance or render such waters harmful, detrimental
or injurious to the public health, safely or welfare, or to domestic, commercial, industrial,
agricultural, recreational, or other legitimate beneficial uses, or to livestock, wild animals,
birds, fish or other aquatic life"); Packwood v. Mendota Coal & Coke Co., 84 Wash. 47,
146 P. 163 (1915) (quoting Day v. Louisville, Coal & Coke Co., 60 W.Va. 27, 53 S.E. 776,
10 L. R. A. (N. S.) 167 "
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Washington Supreme Court.

WSDOT did not explicitly ask to obstruct the floodplain for the two

permits it did obtain.^ ̂ More fundamentally, it conceded it failed to obtain

approval to obstruct the floodplain or pollute the River required by other

laws. See Notes 3-8 infra, p.5. This should have been enough. Until the

Court of Appeals ruling in this matter, the law has been that the absence of

a needed approval was as if it was never created or obtained. See State y.

N.M.K., 129 Wn. App. 155, 162, 118 P.3d 368 (2005). The conflict is

obvious.

The ruling that expert testimony is required to support a nuisance

per se claim also conflicts with established precedent, In each of the

following cases, the courts did not require any expert e)fplanation of legal

requirements/prohibitions applicable to the defendants. The court merely

addressed the text of the statutes and found that, under the facts presented

The permits obtained from the State of Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife and
Pacific County could not grant permission to obstruct the floodplain or change the direction
of flow of the river by increasing the length and height ofthe approach road to match the new
elevation of the replacement bridge because WSDOT did not identify this element as part of
the description of the proposal. See Exhibit 165, Item 6, Exhibit 167 (Description of
Proposal); Exhibit 169 p.l, p.3. See also VRP Vol. 2, p. 293:18-25, p.294:l thoughp.297:9.

Evidence Rule ("ER") 803(a) allows admission of evidence that an event or matter was
not recorded in public records to show that it did not occur or did not exist (Allowing
admission of evidence that a matter is not included in business records, kept in accordance
with the provisions of ROW 5.45, to prove the nonoccurrence or nonexistence of the
matter). .See Karl B. Tegland, Washington Practice: Courtroom Handbook on Washington
Evidence, 409-10 (2005. See also, United States v. Keplinger, 116 F.2d 678, 689-90 (7th
Cir. 1985) (stating that proof of absence of records that would ordinaply exist if a particular
event had occurred is properly admitted to show that the event did pot occur).
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to it, the defendants had failed to comply: Miotke v. City of Spokane, 101

Wn.2d 307, 309, 329, 678 P.2d 803 (1984) (:"In short, it is clear from the

federal and state statutory schemes [including RCW 90.48] ... that the

discharge of pollutants into state waters is prohibited unless authorized by

a permit.") (emphasis added); Tiegs v. Boise Cascade Corp., 83 Wn.App.

411,420, 922 P.2d 115 (1996) ("If the jury determined Boise was leaching

pollutants into the groundwater, then that act was vml^wful under RCW

90.48 and constituted a nuisance.").

Petitioners submit that these rulings and the Court's requested

review here invoke statutory construction principles by analogy. Where the

laws or regulations are not found to be vague or uncertain, there is no

"interpretation" or "construction" that is required.^' The trial court made

no finding that the federal and state requirements concerning obstruction of

a floodplain were vague such that expert testimony was required to interpret

or apply them. Accordingly, the requirement that a plaintiff support its

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