FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/4/2018 11:14 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 96227-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CHARLES WOLFE, a single person, JANICE WOLFE, a single person, and JOHN and DEE ANTTONEN, and the marital community comprised thereof,

Petitioners,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

MATTHEW D. HUOT Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 40606 PO Box 40113 Olympia, WA 98504-0113 (360) 586-0641 OID No. 91028

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

This case does not warrant review, but if review is granted, four issues are presented:

A. Does a public nuisance claimant alleging pollution of a body of water under RCW 7.48.140(2) meet the burden of proof when no

evidence is presented to show that the alleged "source" of pollution is, in fact, causing the pollution alleged?

- B. Does a public nuisance claimant alleging floodplain obstruction in violation of RCW 7.48.140(3) meet the burden of proof when no evidence is presented to show, as a matter of fact, that the obstruction exists without "lawful authority?"
- C. Do a trial court's findings that a permanent structure (like a bridge) is altering the flow of a river, obstructing a floodplain, and contributing to erosion of a downstream owners' riverbank relieve the downstream owners' from their burden of proving the structure was constructed without lawful authority, is the cause of the floodplain's expansion, or is the cause of alleged pollution (in this case, sediment from the eroded riverbank)?
- D. In order to establish a public nuisance claim for pollution under RCW 7.48.140(2), may a plaintiff prevail even though the plaintiff presented no evidence at trial that: a) the body of water is, in fact, polluted; or b) that the alleged nuisance is, in fact, the cause of the pollution?

IV. ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals correctly upheld the trial court's dismissal of Petitioners' claims because Petitioners failed to present sufficient evidence at trial. This Court should not entertain Petitioners' request to change the law to make it easier to prove public nuisance absent causation evidence or proof of lack of unlawful authority. Petitioners do not point to any credible conflict between this case and established legal precedent, nor does this case raise issues of substantial public interest. Thus, review ought to be denied.

A. Standard of Review

This Court allows discretionary review of a decision terminating review in limited circumstances. RAP 13.4. Petitioners allege that the unpublished opinion in this case is in conflict with decisions of this Court "and the Supreme Court of the United States." Pet. for Rev. at 12. RAP 13.4 allows for review where of a Court of Appeals decision that may be in conflict with a prior Washington appellate decision, but RAP 13.4 does not treat alleged conflict with a United States Supreme Court decision as a basis for discretionary review. Regardless, as explained below, this case is not in conflict with any prior decision of any court.

B. This Case Does Not Conflict with Any Binding Precedent

Petitioners indirectly contend that the unpublished opinion conflicts with *Dep't of Ecology v. Jefferson Cty. PUD No. 1*, 121 Wn.2d 179, 187, 849 P.2d 646 (1991), and its holding that altered stream flows may constitute "pollution" under the Clean Water Act (CWA). Even if that case was on point, neither the trial court nor the Court of Appeals made a finding or conclusion adverse to the *Dep't of Ecology* case.

In *Dep't of Ecology*, the City of Tacoma and the local public utility district (City) applied for a "Section 401" permit from the Department of Ecology (Ecology) in order to divert water from the Dosewallips River to operate a hydroelectric power plant, then return the water to the river downstream. *Id.* at 184. Ecology granted the Section 401 permit on the condition that the City maintain minimum stream flows for the length of the river between the point of diversion for the plant and where the water is returned downstream. *Id.* The City appealed, arguing that Ecology's authority under Section 401 to regulate water quality standards was limited to pollution and discharges. *Id.* at 188. This Court disagreed, holding that the CWA's definition of pollution is "extremely broad" and includes "man-induced alteration of streamflow levels." *Id.*

In this case, neither the Court of Appeals nor the trial court made any findings or conclusions to the contrary. Petitioners did not contend that alteration to stream flows (man-made or otherwise) is "pollution" for purposes of the CWA or Washington's nuisance statute; rather, they argued that sedimentation from bank erosion is "pollution." The Court of Appeals recognized that excess sedimentation may constitute "pollution" under RCW 7.48.140(2) if water quality and habitability is negatively affected. Unpub. Op. at 15. However, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's conclusion that RCW 7.48.140(2) requires "evidence of pollution being

introduced into a river that renders the river impure and that causes injury to people," and its finding that no such evidence was produced. *Id.* (internal quotations omitted). As the Court of Appeals explained, Petitioner's expert, Schaumburg, "only testified to the possible effects of increased sedimentation in the water, without offering any evidence of an increase in sedimentation below the bridge." Unpub. Op. at 16.

Petitioners offered no evidence that the bridge is causing excessive amounts of sediment to enter the Naselle River through erosion of their property.³ They rely entirely on the trial court's findings that: a) their property is eroding; and b) the erosion is caused by the obstructed floodplain, which is attributable to the bridge and its approach embankment. *See* CP at 1507 (Findings of Fact 1.26-1.30). They contend this is all that is needed to prove a RCW 7.48.140(2) pollution claim. As discussed above, the *Dep't of Ecology* case does not support that contention, nor does any other decision of this Court. The trial court properly concluded that Petitioners had not proved all elements of their RCW 7.48.140(2) claim and the Court of Appeals was correct in affirming the trial court. The Court of

³Petitioners allege that the trial court found WSDOT was responsible for "32,000 cubic yards of dirt" avulsing into the Naselle River since the bridge was initially built, and that "[t]he numbers are not in dispute." Pet. for Rev. at 12-14. Those numbers are not in dispute because Petitioners never offered them at trial; at no point did any witness testify as to the specific amount of sediment that had been deposited into the Naselle River, and the trial court did not make any finding on that issue. *See* CP at 1504-1509.

Appeals decision is consistent with legal precedent and need not be reviewed here.

Neither is the unpublished opinion in conflict with *Moore v. Steve's Outboard Servs.*, 182 Wn.2d 152, 339 P.3d 169 (2014). In *Moore*, neighboring property owners sued the operator of an outboard motor repair service for nuisance *per se*, alleging the operator was conducting the business without proper permits. *Id.* at 153-4. The trial court found for the operator because it found that the neighbors did not prove they had suffered damages; it made no finding as to whether the operator violated any laws or failed to obtain any required permits. *Id.* at 154. The Court of Appeals reversed as to the nuisance *per se* claim, holding that if the operator did fail to obtain permits that would constitute nuisance *per se*.

This Court disagreed. Distinguishing the *Moore* case from *Tiegs v. Boise Cascade Corp.*, 83 Wn. App. 411, 922 P.2d 115 (1996), the Court explained that the nuisance condition in *Tiegs*—pollution of groundwater—was the same condition that was prohibited by the controlling statute that required a permit. *Tiegs*, 182 Wn.2d at 155-56. On the other hand, the conditions identified in *Moore* (noise, fumes, and traffic) were incidental to the alleged failure to obtain a permit (there, a Shoreline Management Act permit). *Id.* This Court also explained that although operating a business like the one in *Moore* may become a nuisance in fact if noise, fumes, and

traffic become unreasonably burdensome to the community, it is not a nuisance "at all times under all conditions" simply because a permit was not obtained. *Id.* at 156-57.

In this case, Petitioners' take as a given that WSDOT was required to obtain a permit to obstruct the Naselle River floodplain. Pet. for Rev. at 16. However, the trial court correctly found that Petitioners put forth no evidence to substantiate their claims that WSDOT was required to obtain a permit to obstruct the floodplain in 1985 and failed to do so. CP at 1508 (Findings 1.35-1.37); Unpub. Op. at 14.

Petitioners argue that because the courts in *Miotke v. City of Spokane*, 101 Wn.2d 307, 678 P.2d 803 (1984), and *Tiegs* did not require "any expert explanation of legal requirements/prohibitions applicable to defendants," they should be excused from doing so in this case. There are two problems with this argument. First, it is unclear from the factual recitations in those decisions how the facts surrounding permit requirements were entered into the trial court record. *Miotke*, 101 Wn.2d at 307-321; *Tiegs*, 83 Wn. App. at 411-415. Second, and more importantly, even if expert testimony is not required, as Petitioners argue, *Miotke* and *Tiegs* both required their respective plaintiffs to present some evidence of actionable nuisance. The Court of Appeals in this case explicitly held that "[Petitioners] failed to offer any credible evidence as to which permits were

required at the time the bridge was built, or that WSDOT violated any permit procedures." Unpub. Op. at 14. Wolfe's testimony as to what he believed were the required permits was not sufficient; "[c]iting to statutes alone does not specify what permits were required administratively at the time." *Id.* And, as the trial court found, Petitioners' reliance on 40 C.F.R. § 60.3(d) for the claim that WSDOT was required to obtain an "engineered no-rise certification" was "not clearly established as a matter of fact." CP at 1508. This distinguishes *Wolfe* II from *Miotke* and *Tiegs* and does not warrant further review by this Court.

C. No Issue of Substantial Public Interest Is Raised by This Case

Any case, when viewed in its broadest terms, may be construed to present issues of public interest. But RAP 13.4(b)(4) requires the Court to narrow its focus on whether review of the legal issues presented would have far-reaching impacts on our jurisprudence that merits the Court's attention. That is not the case here.

This case was decided by the trial court acting as the trier of fact. The trial court found that Petitioners failed to present sufficient evidence that the bridge was a public nuisance, and the Court of Appeals held that substantial evidence supported those findings, which is the appropriate standard of review. *Landmark Dev., Inc. v. City of Roy*, 138 Wn.2d 561,

573, 980 P.2d 1234 (1999). This confines the analysis to the specifics of the case and does not raise broader public policy issues.

Petitioners contend, without citation to the record, that the bridge's obstruction of the floodplain impacts all property owners within the floodplain. Pet. for Rev. at 18. This ignores the trial court's finding that Petitioners failed to present sufficient evidence that the erosion caused by the bridge "extended to the entire community or broader neighborhood than the [Petitioners]." CP at 1508. Consequently, this case is limited to Petitioners, WSDOT, and the specific facts presented to the trial court.

V. CONCLUSION

Petitioners have offered no compelling reason to resurrect their dismissed trial case on appeal. The Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with any decision of this Court, and no issues of substantial public interest are implicated by the trial court's dismissal or the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion. This Court should deny the petition.